IN THE SUPREME COURT

FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

3		
4	DR. JOEL SLADE,)
5	Plaintiff/Appellant,	Electronically Filed Jul 05 2013 09:02 a.m.
6		Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
7	vs.) Olerk of Supreme Court
8	CAESARS ENTERTAINMENT) Surragua Canat Casa Na (2720
9	CORPORATION, PARIS LAS VEGAS) Supreme Court Case No. 62720
10	OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a)
11	PARIS LAS VEGAS, AND CAESARS ENTERTAINMENT OPERATING)
12	COMPANY, INC.,	,)
13	Defendants/Appellees)
14		,

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court Clark County, Nevada

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL

IV. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant, Dr. Joel Slade ("Plaintiff"), appeals the district court's grant of a Motion to Dismiss brought by Appellees ("Defendants"), which disposed of the entire action. Joint Appendix [hereafter "JA"] pp. 111-112. This is an appeal of a final order. *See Lee v. GNLV Corp.*, 116 Nev. 424, 427-28, 996 P.2d 416 (2000)(Order which adjudicates the rights and liabilities of all parties and disposes of all issues presented in case is final, appealable judgment). This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1).

Pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1) and 26(c), this appeal is timely filed. The notice of entry of the order appealed from was served by mail on February 6, 2013. JA p. 114. Plaintiff, thus, had 33 days, until March 7, 2013, to file the notice of appeal. JA p. 117. The notice of appeal was filed with the district court clerk on February 28, 2013. JA p. 094.

¹NRAP 4(a)(1) provides 30 days from the date of service for the appeal and NRAP 26(c) allows an additional 3 days to this prescribed service as the notice of entry of judgment was not delivered on the date of service, i.e., the notice was served by mail.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal raises three issues of import never before addressed by the Nevada Supreme Court. While the common law is clear on two of these issues, in recent times the state's largest industry has ignored this common law and a more recent statutory mandate. Because of this conflict between the actual law and the gaming industry's skewed perception of the law, the matter cries out for a thorough and reasoned decision through which casinos and patrons can order their actions. The issues presented are: 1) Whether Nevada adopts and applies the common law of innkeepers requiring them to accept guests properly presenting themselves, or applies a rule at variance with the common law of all other jurisdictions; 2) Whether there exists a common law duty of casinos, open to the public, to grant access to the general public; and 3) Whether, regardless of the common law duty, the legislature has mandated that casinos grant access for entertainment purposes to patrons properly presenting themselves?

Plaintiff is a medical doctor of good repute. Complaint, ¶ 5, JA p. 2, accord Complaint, ¶¶ 14 and 23, JA pp. 2 and 4, respectively. Without cause or reason, let alone good cause or reason, he received correspondence telling him that if he was found present in any premises of the gaming licensees affiliated with Defendants, Caesars Entertainment Corporation ("Caesars") or Caesars Entertainment Operating Company ("Operating"), he would be arrested for

27

2

3

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

trespassing. Complaint, ¶ 15, JA p. 3. Thus, he has been forbidden guest status, under threat of arrest, at all Caesars affiliated hotels and casinos.

Plaintiff had planned on attending a professional conference at a licensed casino operated by Paris Las Vegas Operating Company ("Paris"), and the correspondence prevented him from doing so. Complaint, ¶ 7, JA p. 2. Plaintiff also plans future visits to Las Vegas, which visits include the attendance at other professional conferences at hotels operated by Defendants. Id. Plaintiff sues to lift this bar and for damages arising out of Defendants' breach of its statutory, common law, and regulatory mandate that the Defendants not deny access without good cause. Complaint, JA 1-9.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5) "is subject to a rigorous standard of review on appeal. The court is to recognize all factual allegations in the complaint as true and draw all inferences in favor of the complaint stating a cause of action. The dismissal should be granted only if it appears beyond a doubt that Plaintiff could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief. The district court's legal conclusions de novo. <u>Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas</u>, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008) (citations omitted).

VII. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The current appeal involves a dismissal for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. JA p. 11. This occurred even before an answer.

Thus, the facts to be considered are the facts stated in the Complaint, and no other.

Buzz Stew, supra.

Briefly, these pertinent facts are as follows:

- Plaintiff is a licensed medical doctor and specialist. Complaint, ¶ 5, JA p.
 2.
- Plaintiff's visits to Las Vegas are often in conjunction with symposiums, conventions and/or seminars being held within his profession. Complaint, ¶ 6, JA p. 2.
- 3. Oftentimes Defendants host the sponsors of these events at properties affiliated with the Defendants, and Plaintiff attended in the past, and desires to attend in the future, such events at Paris and other venues affiliated with Caesars and Operating. Complaint, ¶ 7, and exhibit 1, JA pp. 2 and 11, respectively.
- 4. Plaintiff has frequented casinos affiliated with Caesars since, at least, 1994, without incident. Complaint, ¶¶ 10 and 14, JA pp. 2 and 3.
- 5. In 2011, for example, per records of one of the Defendants, entities affiliated with Caesars earned a gross amount approaching \$40,000.00 from the Plaintiff in 2011. Complaint, ¶ 13, JA p. 3.

- 6. Plaintiff never acted disorderly within any company affiliated with Caesars, never undertook anything to cause injury to any company affiliated with Caesars, and never suffered a complaint of any nature relative to his play, his actions as a guest, or other circumstance surrounding any company affiliated with Caesars. Complaint, ¶ 14, JA p. 3.
- 7. In the summer of 2011, Plaintiff received a letter from a casino affiliated with Caesars written by one Greg Hinton and on the letterhead of Harrah's Casino & Hotel, Tunica, stating that Plaintiff has been evicted from that casino, and further providing, "This is an eviction that will be enforced at all Caesar's Entertainment owned, operated, or managed properties throughout the entire Caesars Entertainment Company. Should you enter any part of any property, you may be subject to arrest for trespassing under that states [sic] trespassing law. Should your presence go undetected and you win in the casino; all winning [sic] will be forfeited including jackpots.

 You must refrain from entering any Caesar's related property in any part of the United States." Complaint, ¶ 15, JA p. 3 (Emphasis in original).
- 8. In Nevada, Caesars and Operating maintain an affiliation with many gaming licensees and hotels to which the letter referenced in the preceding paragraph appears to be intended to apply, including casinos commonly

referred to as: The Rio; Caesars Palace; Paris; Planet Hollywood; Bally's; Imperial Palace; Harrah's; Flamingo, and Harvey's. Complaint, ¶ 16, JA p. 3.

- 9. The casinos affiliated with Defendants in Nevada hold the character of public amusements. Complaint, ¶ 20, JA p. 4.
- 10. The hotels affiliated with Defendants in Nevada hold the character of innkeepers. Complaint, ¶ 25(c), JA p. 5, and see Tienda v. Holiday Casino, Inc., 109 Nev. 507, 853 P.2d 106 (1993).
- 11. Caesars and Operating exercise control over the casinos affiliated with them with respect to trespass warnings and enforcing trespass warnings. Complaint, ¶ 28, JA p. 6.
- 12. On September 23, 2011, Caesars confirmed in writing that it would seek to enforce the Nevada eviction of Plaintiff from Nevada casinos and hotels concerning its affiliated properties. Complaint, ¶ 29, JA p. 6.

In simple terms, Plaintiff is a well-respected professional. Without cause,

Defendants excluded the Plaintiff from all casinos and hotels affiliated with

Caesars Entertainment, inclusive of a number of such casinos in Nevada.

Plaintiff, at the time of filing the complaint, intended to attend an event at one such casino, to wit: Paris Hotel and Casino, and the exclusion by Defendants prevented him from doing so.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. INTRODUCTION

Before the court are three issues of law which this court has not addressed in this century or the preceding century. Two of these arise under the common law, to wit: 1) Under the common law, does a casino as innkeeper hold a duty of allowing access to members of the public seeking to use the services and amenities offered by it; 2) As a casino operating a public amusement, does the common law of reasonable access applicable to businesses and amusements open to the public impose a duty to allow access upon the Defendants? The third issue requires a determination of whether, per statute, NRS 463.0129 imposes upon a gaming licensee a duty of allowing access to members of the public seeking to use the services and amenities offered by the casino? Absent overruling the common law, in light of the two letters to Plaintiff from Caesars affiliated properties, Defendants breached this duty and are barred by law from excluding or ejecting Plaintiff.

With these questions, another factor arises within the context of this case.

Plaintiff does not contend that there exists an unfettered duty to allow access, and any and all questions concerning the ability of a casino to eject or refuse admission **for proper cause** are not before the Court on this appeal. Per the pleadings dismissed by the district court, this is not an issue concerning the ability

2

1

3

4

6

7

9

11

12

13 14

15

16 17

18

19

2021

22

2324

25

2627

of a Nevada gaming licensee hotel to protect itself from disorderly, odious persons, or reasonably objectionable prospective guests.

B. IN BARRING PLAINTIFF FROM ITS HOTELS, DEFENDANTS HAVE VIOLATED LONG-STANDING AND IMMUTABLE LEGAL PRINCIPLES APPLICABLE TO INNKEEPERS IN SOCIETY

In operating in Nevada as an innkeeper,² Defendants committed a tort in prospectively barring Plaintiff from its hotels. Nevada law addresses this issue on its founding and by statute. From the onset of the existence of Nevada, through today, the English Common law was accepted as the rule governing decisions in this state. See Hamilton v. Kneeland, 1 Nev. 40, 57 (1865);³ NRS 1.030. This rule of application of the common law as the rule of decision in the courts

² Nevada recognizes hotel/casinos as innkeepers. <u>See Estate of Smith ex rel.</u> <u>Smith v. Mahoney's Silver Nugget, Inc.</u>, 265 P.3d 688 (Nev. 2011); <u>Tienda v. Holiday Casino, Inc.</u>, 109 Nev. 507, 853 P.2d 106 (1993). This also appears correct under the classic common law definition of an innkeeper providing that an innkeeper is, "One who keeps an inn, hotel, motel or house for the lodging and entertainment of travelers." Black's Law Dictionary, 5th ed. (West 1979).

³ Curiously, there has been some dispute in Nevada as to the date of the common law to be applied. The cited decision, <u>Hamilton</u>, seems to indicate that the proper date to look to is 1776, the date of the establishment of the Union. Subsequent Nevada authority, nonetheless, deems the common law as of the date of the establishment of the State of Nevada, 1864, as the proper time for determination of the common law to be applied in Nevada. <u>Aftercare of Clark County v. Justice of Las Vegas Twp. ex rel. County of Clark</u>, 120 Nev. 1, 4, 82 P.3d 931, 932 (2004). Here it does not matter because the common law was the same on each date, yet an opportunity for the clarification of which date establishes the common law referenced in NRS 1.030 appears in this matter.

1864 for the definitive answer.

Accord Howard v. State, 128 Nev. ____, 291 P.3d 137, 140 (Nev. 2012). Thus, the first issue, whether a duty exists requiring a Nevada innkeeper to accept guests, appropriately looks to the common law of England as it existed in 1776 or

continues today with all the strength and vitality of these founding principles.

Since time immemorial, the common law has mandated public access to certain private businesses. At various times the businesses which could not deny access included such trades as public amusements, food sellers, blacksmiths, tailors, and veterinarians. See Individual and the Public Service Enterprise in the New Industrial State, 55 Cal. L. Rev. 1247, 1253 (1967). As of 1776, 1864, and today, there exists a core of businesses for which the law absolutely requires the right of access to patrons in all American jurisdictions. These are common carriers and innkeepers.

As to innkeepers, there is not even the semblance of a question, and the Defendants owe Plaintiff the right of access mandated by the common law.

"Innkeepers . . . by the laws of all the states . . . are bound, to the extent of their facilities, to furnish proper accommodation to all unobjectionable persons who in good faith apply for them." Civil Rights Cases, 109 U.S. 3, 25, 3 S. Ct. 18, 31, 27 L. Ed. 835 (1883) (emphasis added); Hurley v. Irish-Am. Gay, Lesbian & Bisexual Grp. of Boston, 515 U.S. 557, 571, 115 S. Ct. 2338, 2346, 132 L. Ed. 2d 487 (1995) ("[[T]]he innkeeper is not to select his guests[;] [h]e has no right to say

to one, you shall come into my inn, and to another you shall not, as every one coming and conducting himself in a proper manner has a right to be received; and for this purpose innkeepers are a sort of public servants." (citations omitted)); Toxaway Hotel Co. v. J.L. Smathers & Co., 216 U.S. 439, 447, 30 S. Ct. 263, 54 L. Ed. 558 (1910) ("An innkeeper cannot refuse his guest."); Thomas v. Pick Hotels Corp., 224 F.2d 664, 665 (10th Cir. 1955); Kellogg v. Commodore Hotel, 187 Misc. 319, 324, 64 N.Y.S.2d 131, 136 (Sup. Ct. 1946); Asseltyne v. Fay Hotel, 222 Minn. 91, 98, 23 N.W.2d 357, 362 (1946) (Also recognizing the rule as a national rule); Bennett v. Dutton, 10 N.H. 481, 486 (1839); Langdon v. Google, Inc., 474 F. Supp. 2d 622, 634 (D. Del. 2007); ("[A] person engaged in a public calling, such as an innkeeper . . . was held to have a duty to the general public to serve without discrimination all who sought service."); Kveragas v. Scottish Inns, Inc., 733 F.2d 409, 412 (6th Cir. 1984); 40A Am. Jur. 2d Hotels, Motels, Etc. § 60 (West, 1999, supp. 2000) ("[A]n innkeeper is under a duty to receive and entertain all persons who offer themselves as guests, unless he or she has some reasonable grounds for refusing to receive and entertain them."); Prosser, Law of Torts 4th Ed. at 339 ("[T]hose engaged in "public" callings, who, by holding themselves out to the public, were regarded as having undertaken a duty to give service, for the breach of which they were liable. This idea still survives in the obligation of . . . innkeepers . . . to serve all comers."); cf Billingsley v. Stockmen's Hotel, Inc., 111 Nev. 1033, 1038, 901 P.2d 141, 145 (1995) (Negative inference that proper

guests cannot be ejected or refused services to be drawn from holding that disruptive guests can be ejected); Lee v. GNLV Corp., 117 Nev. 291, 295, 22 P.3d 209, 212 (2001) (Recognizing that innkeeper status carries with it duties under the common law transcending duties owed by other businesses); Sims v. Gen. Tel. & Electronics, 107 Nev. 516, 526, 815 P.2d 151, 157 (1991) overruled on other grounds by Tucker v. Action Equip. & Scaffold Co., Inc., 113 Nev. 1349, 951 P.2d 1027 (1997) (same).

In the failure to fulfill this duty, the innkeeper is civilly liable to the putative guest. Jackson v. Virginia Hot Springs Co., 209 F. 979, 980 (W.D. Va. 1913)

rev'd, on other grounds 213 F. 969 (4th Cir. 1914); Cornell v. Huber, 102 A.D.

293, 92 N.Y.S. 434 (1905); Kisten v. Hildebrand, 48 Ky. 72, 74 (1849); accord

Mankodi v. Trump Marina Associates, LLC, No. 12-3067, 2013 WL 1867463, at

*3-4 (3d Cir. May 6, 2013); Prosser, The Law of Torts, , supra. Indeed, refusing to entertain a guest is of such gravity that, under the common law, it is not only tortious to refuse to accept a guest, but actually an indictable crime committed by the innkeeper. Kisten, supra; State v. Moore, 12 N.H. 42, 45 (N.H. 1841); Rex vs. Ivens, 7 Car. & P. 213, 173 Eng. Rep. 94 (1835); Regina v. Sprague, 63 J.P. 233 (Surrey Qtr. Ses., Eng. 1899).

The district court relied upon the premise that a property owner could refuse service to anyone it desired. See Oral Argument at JA p. 103: 16-19. Ignored was the argument that as to Defendants, innkeepers, a different duty

appertained to them. <u>See</u> Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, pp. 8-9, 19-21, JA 45-48. Clearly, in light of the foregoing, absent a reasonable basis concerning the prospective guest, an innkeeper cannot deny accommodations.

Defendants have denied Plaintiff accommodations, and done so in the strongest terms—'If you enter our hotel, you will be arrested.' Complaint, ¶ 15, JA p. 3. This, undertaken without reason concerning the Plaintiff, violates the law, and provides Plaintiff with a civil cause of action.

Defendants' argument in the district court, in response to the allegation of an innkeeper tort was to claim it was not pled in the complaint and to assert that Nevada had never addressed the issue. Defendants' Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss Complaint ("Defendants' Reply Brief"), pp. 11-12, JA pp. 92-93. The issue was raised in the Complaint at ¶ 25. c., conspicuously ignored by the Defendants in the district court. This allegation provides, "As an innkeeper operating an inn in conjunction with a casino, Defendants are bound by the common law obligations of an innkeeper to accept all suitable travelers, and the common law actually restricts the action [barring of the Plaintiff] (rather that allows the action) taken by the Defendants." Contrary to the Defendants' perspective, the issue was squarely before the district court in the complaint.

⁴ Despite this direct reference in the Complaint to Defendants' status as an innkeeper and the duty to allow access, Defendants stated in their Reply Brief, p.

solely addressed the prospective relationship between Plaintiff and Defendants as centered exclusively on Plaintiff being barred from access to gaming.

Defendants' Reply Brief, generally. JA pp. 81-96. To the contrary, the Complaint centered on alleged violations stemming from the Defendants' status as an innkeeper and public calling, and largely ignored Plaintiff's exclusion from gaming. Complaint, generally, and ¶ 6, 36, 37, JA 2, 6-7. Resort to such tactics as pretending alleged facts do not exist clearly bespeaks an inability to address the factors under the law, and as noted above, under the law applicable in Nevada the Defendants could not bar Plaintiff from access to its inn.

As a variation on this theme, Defendants also pretended that the Complaint

As to Nevada allegedly having never addressed the issue, clearly, through the adoption of the common law, Nevada addressed the issue. See NRS 1.030. Indeed, as noted, the issue is so entrenched in the common law which Nevada adopts that the United States Supreme Court recognized that "the law of all states" adopt the concept of required access as a duty of an innkeeper. Civil Rights

Cases, supra. Moreover, Defendants' actual argument is that because the Nevada Supreme Court had never opined on the issue, the duty cannot exist. Accord

Defendants' Reply Brief, p. 11, JA 92: 6-10. This reasoning argues the pinnacle

^{12, &}quot;Plaintiff's Opposition was the first indication that any innkeeper issues were being asserted by Plaintiff." Clearly, this was not the case.

of sophistry and stands contrary to reason, especially in the context of such an entrenched and universal rule.

Defendants assert that because Nevada has existed for just shy of a century and a half without an opinion means that the rule does not apply in Nevada. Id. A far more logical conclusion is that throughout the existence of the State of Nevada, no innkeeper would presume to violate this immutable and constant rule of law applicable to them, and thus, the courts were wholly avoided because the law was followed. Also supportive of this conclusion is that innkeepers are not as generally unreasonable as Defendants appear here, welcome appropriate guests to their premises, and avoid acts which create the present issue. Simply, Defendants, in their arrogance and feigned modernity, fail to recognize that as hoteliers they owe special duties to society and its members. Nonetheless, the universal common law, the law of Nevada, and reason all dictate that they do owe such duties.

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