#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DR. JOEL SLADE,

Appellant,

v.

CAESARS ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION, PARIS LAS VEGAS OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, d/b/a PARIS LAS VEGAS.

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case Nectronically Filed Aug 23 2016 10:52 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

#### **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REHEARING**

JAMES E WHITMIRE, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 6533 <u>jwhitmire@santoronevada.com</u> JASON D. SMITH, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 9691 <u>jsmith@santoronevada.com</u> SANTORO WHITMIRE 10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 Telephone: 702/948-8771 Facsimile: 702/948-8773

Attorneys for Respondents

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Slade's Petition is nothing more than a creative ploy to have this Court redecide the merits of his appeal. This is a text book case where zealous advocacy has occurred, where competing positions have been thoroughly presented both in writing and oral argument, where the Court (en banc) has recognized the importance of the matter, where reasonable minds have considered the matter, and where a majority of the Court reached a decision with dissenting opinions expressed thereto. Unsatisfied with the outcome, Slade now inappropriately attempts to reargue the matter asserting that the Court: (a) misapprehended and misapplied the law; (b) failed to conduct a required analysis; and, (c) "misapplied the depth of analysis required in addressing a split of authority."<sup>1</sup> Slade's Petition should be denied on multiple independent grounds.

As a procedural matter, although Slade strategically couches his Petition as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Slade's statement/suggestion that the Court misapplied "the depth of analysis required" is almost insulting. When one reads the Opinion as a whole, it is obvious that a careful analysis occurred and a decision was thereafter rendered. Dissatisfied with the outcome, Slade now tries to tell the Court that it not only reached the wrong result, but that the "depth of analysis" was inadequate.

though the Court misapplied or overlooked the law, the Petition is an improper mix of (a) rearguing points already raised and rejected by a majority of the Court and (b) raising new points for the first time in a petition for rehearing. Slade's occupancy on both ends of this spectrum is improper.

As a substantive matter, the Petition should likewise be denied. Slade is simply wrong to suggest that the Court misapplied or overlooked the law. The Court considered each of Slade's points (the ones repeated in the Petition), considered the legislative intent of the statute in question (as well as others which Slade suggests to be violated or ignored), and rendered its decision that a right to exclude exists.

Caesars also respectfully contends that Slade's slew of new hypotheticals in his Petition does not warrant rehearing. Slade's burden in his Petition is to show that the Court misapplied the law in rendering its Opinion on the record before it. Instead of squarely addressing his burden, Slade introduces new hypotheticals (that re-argue previously argued points) and fact patterns of other lower court verdicts or complaints (not at issue in this case and never presented to this Court in this appeal). Slade is essentially asking this Court to consider new facts and issues as though they are within the record of this action. Slade's attempt to bootstrap new factual scenarios is improper and does not demonstrate that this Court misapplied the law in ruling against Slade.<sup>2</sup>

In sum, Slade's generalized disagreement with the Court's review and rejection of his position in this case does not warrant rehearing.

I.

# SLADE'S PETITION VIOLATES NRAP 40 BY REARGUING POINTS ALREADY RAISED AND CONSIDERED BY THE COURT AND BY INTRODUCING <u>NEW MATTERS RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN THE PETITION</u>

NRAP 40(c)(1) sets forth the permissible scope of a petition for rehearing.

In relevant part, the rule states:

Matters presented in the briefs and oral arguments may not be reargued in the petition for rehearing, and no point may be raised for the first time on rehearing.

Case law is consistent with NRAP 40. For example, as stated in In re Estate

of Aguirre v. Aguirre, 57 Nev. 284, 285, 65 P.2d 685 (1937) (denying a petition for

rehearing):

Rehearings are not allowed merely for reargument. There must be shown a reasonable probability that the court reached an erroneous conclusion, or overlooked some important question which was necessary to be discussed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Slade's limited discussion of the absence of a stated reason for his exclusion from Caesars' properties is no reason for rehearing. Slade, the master of his pleading, failed to make any issue of this during the trial court proceedings, he failed to raise this in his briefing, and is now precluded from suggesting that the absence of a stated reason is a basis for rehearing. While Caesars could explain the actual non-discriminatory reason for Slade's exclusion, it is not doing so in order to stay within the confines of the record. In sum, the Court has properly rendered an Opinion based upon the record presented for its consideration.

in order to arrive at a full and proper understanding of the case.

 $Id.^3$ 

Likewise, courts have recognized that no point may be raised for the first time in a petition for rehearing, and items outside of the record are improper for such petition. *See, e.g., Donohue v. Pioche Mines Co.*, 51 Nev. 403, 410, 277 P. 980, 981 (1929) ("Both the petition and the reply thereto discuss much that is not in the record and which cannot be considered."). As the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has recognized:

> a party abuses . . . the privilege of making such a petition when it seeks review of a scope greater than the limited confines of Fed. R. App. P. 40. . . Consideration of subsequent factual occurrences is, thus, beyond the scope of a petition for rehearing.

Armster v. United States Dist. Ct. for Cent. Dist. Of Cal., 806 F.2d 1347, 1356 (9th

Cir. 1986) (internal quotations omitted). The court in Goland v. CIA, 607 F.2d 339

(D.C. Cir. 1979) similarly denied a petition for rehearing stating:

an appellate opinion is based on the record before it, and hence cannot be set aside on the basis of newlydiscovered facts outside of the record... An appellate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Accord, Duckworth v. State, 114 Nev. 951, 953, 966 P.2d 165, 166 (1998) ("[a] petitioner may not reargue an issue already raised or raise a new issue not raised previously"); Gordon v. District Court, 114 Nev. 744, 745, 961 P.2d 142, 143 (1998) (Court "cautioning counsel . . . as well as all members of the State Bar of Nevada, of the proper purpose for petitions for rehearing" noting, among other things: "[a] petition for rehearing may not be utilized as a vehicle to reargue matters considered and decided in the court's initial opinion.").

court has no fact-finding function. It cannot receive new evidence from the parties, determine where the truth actually lies, and base its decision on that determination.

*Id.* at 370-71.

## A. Slade's Petition Is Improper Because It Repeatedly Reargues Points Already Raised and Rejected by a Majority of the Court.

Slade's Petition is improper as it contains numerous arguments previously made during briefing and oral argument. To be sure, Slade's Petition is cosmetically different than his previous Opening brief and Reply brief. When examined closely, however, a substantial portion of the Petition (not counting the new arguments/facts not previously raised) is nothing more than a re-hash of the arguments previously made and considered by the Court. For example, Slade's Petition contains extensive discussion regarding "the common law," innkeeper issues, the proper interpretation of "premises" and other issues that were extensively briefed by the parties. Rather than accepting the fact that a majority of the Court disagreed with his position, Slade reargues the same points over and over in violation of the NRAP 40 and relevant case law.

#### B. Slade's Petition Is Improper Because It Repeatedly Goes Outside of the Record and Makes New Arguments Not Previously Raised.

On the other end of the spectrum, Slade's Petition improperly offers a host of new hypotheticals (couched as "facts" which were purportedly overlooked and, in doing so, attaches new exhibits which are not part of this Court's record). Perhaps the best evidence of Slade's improper action are the "Exhibits" attached to his Petition which consist of a map of the Mandalay Bay (not in the record) that has nothing to do with this case; jury instructions from a different case (not in the record); and, a complaint filed by opposing counsel (not in the record) that presents a different fact pattern. Other examples of Slade's violation are the numerous new hypotheticals that permeate his Petition.

#### C. Slade's Petition Also Violates NRAP 40(c)

Slade's new arguments and presentation of new exhibits to the Court is not only a clear violation of NRAP 40(c)(1), but is also a violation of NRAP 40(a)(2), which states, in relevant part:

Any claim that the court has overlooked or misapprehended a material fact shall be supported by a reference to the page of the transcript, appendix or record where the matter is to be found; any claim that the court has overlooked or misapprehended a material question of law or has overlooked, misapplied or failed to consider controlling authority shall be supported by a reference to the page of the brief where petitioner has raised the issue.

Here, Slade has no cites to the record for the Mandalay Bay map, the jury instructions, the new complaint, his references to "Nevada's only mass-transit rail" being the Las Vegas Monorail and the litany of new hypotheticals. Slade has not cited to the record because his new material is **not** in the record. The failure to cite to the record and/or reference to new material is not an isolated violation in the Petition. Rather, the issue permeates Slade's Petition. In light of Slade's repeated

violation of Rule 40, it is inaccurate and hypocritical for Slade to boldly claim, at page 6 of the Petition, that "[t]here are a number of facts overlooked or given short-shrift by the Opinion."<sup>4</sup> In sum, Slade's efforts to inject facts or evidence from other cases (not part of this appeal) should be disregarded.

II.

## SLADE'S PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE COURT DID NOT OVERLOOK OR MISAPPREHEND ANY FACTUAL MATTERS IN THE RECORD OR ISSUES OF LAW

NRAP 40(c)(2) provides that the Court may consider rehearing:

- (A) When the court has overlooked or misapprehended a material fact in the record or a material question of law in the case, or
- (B) When the court has overlooked, misapplied or failed to consider a statute, procedural rule, regulation or decision directly controlling a dispositive issue in the case.

In support of any petition for rehearing, the petitioner is to "state briefly and with particularity the points of law or fact that the petitioner believes the court has overlooked or misapprehended." NRAP 40(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court should reject Slade's attempt to excuse his failure to cite to the record. More particularly, Slade's footnote 1 suggests that he cannot cite to the record as required by NRAP 40(a)(2) because he accuses the Court of going outside of the briefing and the record to reach its decision. *See* Petition, p. 1, n. 1. The Court did no such thing. Instead of abiding by the rule, Slade improperly attempts to shift blame to the Court.

As discussed below, Slade does not state briefly or with particularity the points of law or fact that Slade believes the court has overlooked or misapprehended. Instead, Slade engages in a lengthy, broad-based argument that repeats prior arguments and/or injects new matters into this case that are outside the record. Not only does Slade violate Rule 40(a)(2), but his Petition is simply wrong in claiming that the Court overlooked or misapprehended any factual matters and/or issues of law.

A. As a Whole, The Court Did Not Overlook any Matter as Evidenced by the Extensive Briefing Supplied by the Parties, the Extensive Oral Argument Where Competing Positions Were Presented and Debated; and, the Subsequent Complete Opinion That Was Rendered by a <u>Majority of the Court in Addition to the Dissenting Opinions Thereto</u>.

When one re-reads the Opinion, it is obvious the Court overlooked nothing. In deciding the matter, a majority of the Court and dissenting Justices thoroughly and carefully considered the issues presented by the parties. The Opinion, in its opening page, correctly summarized that Slade argued "that under the common law and NRS 463.0129(1)(e), Caesars could not exclude him without cause. He further argued that the casino owed him a duty of reasonable access either as a purveyor of a public amusement or as an innkeeper." Opinion, at 2.

After identifying the issues that were <u>extensively</u> briefed and argued by the parties, the Majority thereafter analyzed the issues and discussed the relevant law. Among other things, the Majority cited well-settled law regarding statutory interpretation (*Id.*, at 3); the text/language of the pertinent sections of NRS 463.0129 were examined (*Id.*, at 3-4); the parties' arguments regarding the interpretation of the statutory and common law were considered (*Id.*, at 4-8); the Majority considered innkeeper issues (*Id.* 7-8, 9-11); and, policy issues were also noted (*Id.*, 9-11). The Dissenting Opinions likewise make clear that competing positions were considered by the Court.

Ultimately, a majority of the Court concluded and held:

Thus, in harmonizing NRS 463.0129(1)(e) and NRS 463.0129(3)(a), we conclude that casino establishments are to be open to the *general public* but have the common-law right to exclude *any individual* from the premises pursuant to the majority common law position. We emphasize, however, the right to exclude is not without significant and important limitation. We further conclude that NRS 463.0129(3)(a) does not grant gaming establishments an unlimited right to exclude anyone for any reason as that common-law right can be abridged by other statutory provisions.

Opinion, at 7 (emphasis in original).

It is simply inaccurate for Slade to suggest that the entire Court overlooked, for example, innkeeper issues when the Opinion, as its first example, cited to one of Nevada's innkeeper statutes (NRS 651.070). *Id.*, at 7-8. This section of the Opinion closes by clearly stating "[a]ccordingly, we conclude that while gaming establishments generally have the right to exclude any person, the reason for exclusion must not be discriminatory or otherwise unlawful." *Id.*, at 8.

Similarly, Slade cannot credibly argue that the Court -- whether the Majority or the dissenting Justices -- overlooked anything associated with the proper interpretation of "premises" and/or the "common law." The parties' briefing extensively discussed these issues. Slade had every opportunity to brief the issues and did so thoroughly. Not only did the parties thoroughly address the issues, so did the entire Court. In fact, the Majority Opinion (as well as the Dissenting Opinion) contains multiple pages specifically addressing Slade's arguments about the scope and extent of the definition of a gaming establishment's premises, the common law and the interplay of the innkeeper laws thereto. *See* Opinion, at 9-11.

The Court reviewed, considered, and a Majority of the Justices rejected Slade's suggestions that because a casino hotel establishment in Nevada includes numerous services --- amenities which include convention space, shopping malls, restaurants, swimming pools, concert and wedding halls, nightclubs, bowling alleys, zoos, spas, and more --- it should be governed by different obligations and duties depending on where the exclusion occurred. *Id.*<sup>5</sup>

In sum, the Court reviewed and considered *all* of the arguments presented by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court also, in great detail, considered, and a Majority of the Court rejected Slade's proposal that Nevada should adopt the minority position regarding the common law to be applied in this case. *Id.*, p. 6, n. 4 ("Accordingly, we are not persuaded by the argument."). In his Petition, Slade regurgitates a plethora of his prior arguments in this regard. *See* Petition, pp. 6-12; Opening Brief, pp. 9-15 and 16-25. Caesars herein submits that the Court was correct in its conclusion, based upon the law cited in Caesars' brief.

the parties, carefully crafted a detailed Opinion and, most importantly, reached the correct result was reached. No law was misapplied, overlooked or misapprehended. Thus, the Petition should be denied.

## B. The Court Properly Reviewed, Considered, and Applied Nevada Law Regarding the Definition and Scope of <u>the Gaming Premises; Slade Only Re-Argues His Legal Position</u>.

Caesars asks this Court to summarily reject Slade's Petition based upon the Court's review, consideration, and application of Nevada law in reaching the ultimate conclusion as to the definition and extent of a gaming establishment's premises. The thrust of Slade's Petition on this topic is that this Court "ignore[d]," "misapprehend[ed]," and "relied upon law and argument extraneous to the briefing" in determining that the gaming establishment's premises include the entirety of its facilities. Petition, at 1-3. However, the Court did none of the above.

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